IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Respondent,

v.

NO: 19-0109

JOSHUA DWAYNE PLANTE

Petitioner

-----  
LEGAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT  
OF PETITION FOR APPEAL  
-----

A Courtenay Craig (#8530)  
CRAIG LAW OFFICE  
337 Fifth Avenue  
Huntington, WV 25701  
(304) 697-4422--Telephone  
(304) 699-0016

August 8, 2019



##

## **JURISDICTION**

West Virginia Code §58-5-1. When appeal lies.

A party to a civil action may appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court or from an order of any circuit court constituting a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all claims or parties upon an express determination by the circuit court that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment as to such claims or parties. The defendant in a criminal action may appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court in which there has been a conviction or which affirms a conviction obtained in an inferior court.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“In reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, we apply a two-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court’s underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review.”

Syllabus Point 3, *State v. Vance*, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Joshua Plant was arrested on June 20, 2016 when police observed him leaving the residence of a former girlfriend. He had been the subject of an unrelated murder investigation and police had applied for a warrant at that time. Mr. Plant was arrested without incident in that he did not flee, resist, or otherwise obstruct justice (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 90). There was no drug contraband found at the residence where he was arrested at 4<sup>th</sup> Street West and Seventh Avenue. (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 101) At the time he was arrested, he was found in possession of approximately \$100 and 2.89 grams of heroin. (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 99) Based on that possession, law enforcement applied for and received a search warrant for 325 Olive Street, Huntington, WV (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 123), Mr. Plante’s address registered with federal probation (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 133). At the residence, authorities found a small amount of heroin in two small bags (.244 grams) and (.274 grams) (Tr. Vol. I Pg. 212), digital scales (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 144) and approximately \$320 in cash (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 96-97) various places in the residence. Most contraband items were located in a

female's room (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 115). Mr. Plante's sister, Shaina, was the lessee, but Mr. Plante stipulated this was his legal address as well. (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 84-85).

Evidence shows two of three bedrooms in the residence were undecorated and contained unpacked boxes (Tr. Vol. I Pg. 188 and Vol. II, Pg. 248-249). In some of the boxes, fire arms were located. Mr. Plante was not charged with those firearms and no forensic evidence suggested a link between Mr. Plante and the firearms (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 201-202). Mr. Plante was not forensically linked to any evidence collected (Id.). His parole paperwork was retrieved, but no other evidence linked him to the contraband recovered.

Mr. Plante was not charged with possession of any kind on June 20, 2016. He was later charged with "joint possession" of heroin with his sister in Count II of Cabell County Indictment 17-F-14 (See Indictment, App. Pg. 4). Count I constituted the murder charge (Id.). Mr. Plante moved for, and received, a severance regarding the two charges as there was no evidence suggesting a connection between the two and admission of unrelated evidence would clearly prejudice the defendant at trial. His sister was severed from his case as well.

After a brief trial, Mr. Plante was convicted of "possession with intent to distribute" heroin on or about August 7, 2018. (See Docket. App. Pg. 1-2) The State moved for the life recidivist that same day (See Recidivist Docket. App. Pg. 3 and 5). The parties briefed the matter and orally argued on or about January 2, 2019. (Id.) The lower court imposed the life sentence by order on January 10, 2019. (Id.) The actual sentencing order was entered on January 23, 2019 and amended the next day (See Orders App. Pg. 52-55). Counsel read *State v. Lane* and moved for a Rule 35 hearing on April 4, 2019. (See Motion. App. Pg. 56-57) That motion was denied that same day. It is from the amended sentencing order of May 14, 2019, and the



January 10, 2019 imposition of the recidivist life sentence Mr. Plante is appealing.

### **SUMMARY of ARGUMENTS**

1. The State provided absolutely no evidence Mr. Plante ever physically possessed, or constructively possessed any of the items located at his legal address, but, most importantly, they cannot even put him at the residence at any time when the drugs might have been there. Given that fact, they cannot demonstrate he “exercised dominion and control” required to prove constructive possession beyond a reasonable doubt, therefore, the case was not proven. He was not charged with possession of the 2.89 grams on his person in the indictment, rather he was indicted for joint possession with his sister of the .498 grams found at their residence at 325 Olive Street. Other than baseless implication, the State never linked the two batches of heroin collected. The heroin found at his arrest on Seventh Avenue was 404(b) evidence.

2. West Virginia has never legislated or enunciated a bright-line rule regarding what offenses require imposition of a life-recidivist sentence. In fact, a majority of the jurisprudence overlooks what is the closest to a bright-line standard regarding the matter: the presence of, threat of, or use of violence. In the most recent decision in *State of West Virginia v. Norwood*, the Court seemed to contradict the previous decision in *State of West Virginia v. Lane* within two months of that ruling. Non-violent heroin offenses were suddenly violent offenses for recidivist purposes when a non-violent opioid offense recidivist sentence was just reversed. in *Lane*, despite two separate deliveries.

A defendant has no reasonable notice as to what constitutes conduct to meet the life-recidivist sentence, other than a third felony triggers the process, as this Court, in its various iterations, has consistently offered different rationales to include non-violent conduct within that

test as evidence of violence, or potential violence. When this Court includes blatantly non-violent conduct as evidence of violence regarding imposition of the life-recidivist sentence, it sets up a defacto “residual clause test” designed to catch all the crimes opinion, or political expediency, may deem worthy of violent status at any given time. What is factually non-violent one moment suddenly constitutes evidence of violence for recidivist purposes the next. The United States Supreme Court has roundly rejected this kind of logic and practice not once, but twice, in the last five years. See *United States v. Johnson* 576 U.S. \_\_\_\_ 2015, authored by Antonin Scalia, and *Sessions v. Demaya* 584 U.S. \_\_\_\_ 2018 directly addressing the issue of what constitutes vague, ambiguous, and arbitrary application of law regarding a determination of a crime of violence.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Oral argument under Rule 19 applies because errors in settled law and claims of unsustainable exercise of discretion exist when law governing that discretion is settled.

#### **ARGUMENT** **POINT ONE**

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO DEMONSTRATE MR. PLANTE “CONSTRUCTIVELY POSSESSED” THE HEROIN FOUND AT HIS LEGAL RESIDENCE AND, AS SUCH, THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO UPHOLD HIS CONVICTION

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant’s guilt



beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.”

“A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are inconsistent, they are expressly overruled. Syllabus Points 1 and 3, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995).

When a criminal defendant undertakes a sufficiency challenge, all the evidence, direct and circumstantial, must be viewed from the prosecutor’s coign of vantage, and the viewer must accept all reasonable inferences from it that are consistent with the verdict. This rule requires the trial court judge to resolve all evidentiary conflicts and credibility questions in the prosecution’s favor; moreover, as among competing inferences of which two or more are plausible, the judge must choose the inference that best fits the prosecution’s theory of guilt. Syllabus Point 2, *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996).

### **ARGUMENT**

Neither Mr. Plante nor his sister, Shaina, were found in physical possession of the drugs

charged in Count II of the indictment. Mr. Plante was not home at the time of the search. (See Criminal Complaints. App. Pgs. 6, 9-10) He made no statements against interest. The drugs referenced in a criminal complaint were those found in Ms. Plante's rented home at 325 Olive Street in Huntington, what Mr. Plante listed as his official address with federal probation. Ms. Plante was at the residence when the search warrant was executed but, Mr. Plante was already under arrest on the murder charge. Mr. Plante was never charged with possession in a criminal complaint in this matter. (See Appendix and Transcript et al) He was indicted for possession with his sister in Count II of 17-F-14. What was found at the residence is separate from that found on his person on June 20, 2016 when he was arrested. What was found on his person at the scene of his arrest on Fourth Street West and Seventh Avenue was never charged, whereas the heroin found at 325 Olive Street was charged to Shaina Plante in criminal complaint 16-M06F-00586 (See Complaint, App. Pg. 6), and then both of them in Count II of his indictment. The heroin on Mr. Plante's person at his 4<sup>th</sup> Street West and Seventh Avenue arrest was 404(b) evidence at trial, not conduct charged in the indictment.

That means the State had to demonstrate Mr. Plante constructively possessed the drugs found at his legal address of 325 Olive Street while he was elsewhere. The standards for establishing "constructive possession" are found in *State v. Dudick* 213 S.E.2d 458 (W.Va 1975) In Syllabus Pt. 3., *Dudick* states: "[i]n West Virginia mere physical presence on premises in which a controlled substance is found does not give rise to a presumption of possession of a controlled substance, but is evidence to be considered along with other evidence demonstrating conscious dominion over the controlled substance." And in Syllabus Pt. 4. It states, "[t]he offense of possession of a controlled substance also includes constructive possession, but the

State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had knowledge of the controlled substance and that it was subject to defendant's dominion and control.” Given those two requirements, the State failed to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt, even in a light most favorable to it. There is no evidence which establishes knowledge or presence by Mr. Plante, both of which are required to prove constructive possession beyond a reasonable doubt.

There is no evidence Mr. Plante was ever in the residence at the same time the charged heroin was. The only evidence he was in the residence near the time it was discovered was his mother’s testimony he was there the night before for his sister’s birthday. His mother also testified she did not see any contraband while there but, she left early as she had church duties the next day. (Tr. Vol II, Pg. 256-257) There were no other witnesses who testified factually about how or when the heroin arrived at the residence or to whom it might belong. Actually, the only witnesses who testified for the State were police officers who had no advanced knowledge of anything regarding drugs prior to Mr. Plante’s arrest and execution of the search warrants.

The heroin in the residence was found in two tiny baggy corners in the kitchen drawer (.224 of a gram and .274). The drawer in the house was closed (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 178). Weapons found in the bedrooms were concealed from plain view as well. (Tr. Vol I, Pg. 152) Nothing in or around the house showed Mr. Plante used or was connected to the crime, neither fingerprint evidence nor evidence collected, like cell phones. The two sets of drugs, the two tiny bag corners at the residence and the 2.89 grams on his person, were never tested to show whether or not they came from the same batch of heroin, therefore, it is impossible to suggest possession of one is implied knowledge of another. (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 212-215) 404(b) specifically prohibits the use of conduct to show Mr. Plante acted in conformity with the charged conduct. There was

nothing to suggest a pattern, motive, or lack of mistake, and no legally required uses by the State were identified. By the State's own admission, there was never any evidence Mr. Plante sold drugs in this matter, was the subject of an on-going investigation, or was the subject of some tip to law enforcement regarding drug sales. (Transcript et al)

Testimony at trial also established there were as many as three other possible suspects responsible for the heroin in the home besides Mr. Plante and his sister. Video surveillance taken from outside the Olive Street residence shows at least two other black males who are not Mr. Plante directly outside the home in the early morning of June 20, 2016, as well as someone driving a pick-up truck. (Tr. Vol. I, Pg. 127) Furthermore, Mr. Plante's mother testified Shaina Plante had a boyfriend who lived with her at the time. (Tr. Vol. II, Pg. 256) If he was not one of the other two males seen, that makes three other possible persons who could have used or possessed those drugs besides Mr. Plante and his sister. Ms. Plante was not found in possession of any drugs so the State also failed to prove knowledge on her part as well. There was no testimony or evidence regarding Ms. Plante's culpability or knowledge. It should also be remembered it was Shaina Plante's birthday the night before and there was a celebration attended by their mother and others after she left.

Given all the previous facts, the State failed to prove Mr. Plante or his sister constructively possessed the heroin at the home beyond a reasonable doubt. He was not there when it was found. He was not implicated in possession by another witness. The State did not even demonstrate he was aware the heroin in the home was there. The State did not demonstrate the two seizures of heroin were connected. Officers did not surveil him from one address to the other. Authorities were just on the general look out for him with a list of various locations he

might be found. It did not demonstrate his presence or his knowledge of the heroin at 325 Olive Street, which are the two key elements. When the State failed to demonstrate those two facts, they could not prove his dominion and control beyond a reasonable doubt because “the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had knowledge of the controlled substance and that it was subject to defendant's dominion and control.” *Id* at Syllabus Pt. 4.

Mr. Plante listed 325 Olive Street as his legal address, but he stayed three other places. (TR. Vol. II, Pg. 251-258) The State failed to establish Mr. Plante ever stayed overnight there much less be present when heroin was there.

The State did nothing to provide evidence of how Mr. Plante and his sister “jointly committed” possession, if neither physically possessed what was found, and the State never provided evidence of knowledge by either party. Merely suggesting drugs were found in a residence both parties listed as a residence, after a birthday party, does not establish constructive possession or the joint commission of any criminal act.

The actual facts of *State v. Dudick* clearly put Metro Dudick in the same apartment with drugs, however, the standard required the State prove he was aware the drugs were there, and that he exercised dominion and control over them. The facts at bar are no different, except Mr. Plante was not physically present contemporaneously with the discovery of the drugs charged whereas Dudick was. Mr. Plante’s sister was physically present but, the State offered no evidence regarding her knowledge of its presence. The jury may not presume facts not in evidence and the State did not demonstrate “knowledge or dominion and control” by either party, beyond a reasonable doubt as required under *Dudick*. Therefore, this Court must overturn the verdict below.



**ARGUMENT**  
**POINT TWO.**

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT IMPOSED THE LIFE-RECIDIVIST SENTENCE BECAUSE IT IS CONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE TO MR. PLANTE'S CONDUCT WHEN MR. PLANTE HAS NEVER COMMITTED A CRIME OF VIOLENCE, AND THE PRESENT TEST EMPLOYED BY THIS COURT IS ARBITRARY AS WELL AS VAGUE AN AMBIGUOUS

**STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Sentencing orders are reviewed "under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands. Syllabus Point 1, in part, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W.Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997)." Syllabus Point 1, *State v. James*, 227 W.Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (2011); Syllabus Point 1, *State v. Kilmer*, 240 W. Va. 185, 808 S.E.2d 867 (2017).

**ARGUMENT**

West Virginia Code § 61-11-18(c) authorizes the imposition of a life sentence "[w]hen it is determined . . . that such person shall have been twice before convicted in the United States of a crime punishable by confinement in a penitentiary . . . ." However, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has long recognized that a life sentence imposed under this statute is appropriate only when it does not run afoul of the constitutional proportionality principle. Mr. Plante has three convictions but none of the behavior he engaged in in any of those three warrants a life-recidivist sentence and the sentence is, therefore, unconstitutional on proportionality grounds, despite this Court's most recent ruling in *Norwood*.

Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, which contains the cruel and unusual punishment counterpart to the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, has



an express statement of the proportionality principle. 'Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence.'" Syl. Pt. 8, *State v. Vance*, 164 W.Va. 216, 262 S.E.2d 423 (1980). Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Housden*, 184 W. Va. 171, 399 S.E.2d 882 (1990).

This Court has also explained that there are "specific guidelines for analyzing a life recidivist sentence under the proportionality doctrine. . . . [S]uch a punishment 'must be viewed from two distinct vantage points: first, the nature of the third offense and, second, the nature of the other convictions that support the recidivist sentence.'" Id. at 174, 399 S.E.2d at 885 (quoting *Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher*, 166 W.Va. 523, 533-34, 276 S.E.2d 205, 212 (1981)). As we held in syllabus point two of *Housden*, 184 W. Va. at 172, 399 S.E.2d at 883,

"[t]he appropriateness of a life recidivist sentence under our constitutional proportionality provision found in Article III, Section 5, will be analyzed as follows: We give initial emphasis to the nature of the final offense which triggers the recidivist life sentence, although consideration is also given to other underlying convictions. The primary analysis of these offenses is to determine ***if they involve actual or threatened violence to the person since crimes of this nature have traditionally carried the more serious penalties and therefore justify application of the recidivist statute.***"

Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Beck*, 167 W.Va. 830, 286 S.E.2d 234 (1981). (Emphasis added).

Every bit of this initial argument was reaffirmed by this Court as recently as last year in *Terry v. Lambert* (W. Va., 2018) and this year in *State v. Lane* (W.Va. 2019).

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