FILE COPY

MOVE

FILE



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 19-0109

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

*Plaintiff below,
Respondent,*

v.

JOSHUA DWAYNE PLANTE,

*Defendant below,
Petitioner,*

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT E. JOHNSON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
West Virginia State Bar No. 6335
Office of the Attorney General
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
Tel: (304) 558-5830
Fax: (304) 558-5833
Email: Scott.E.Johnson@wvago.gov

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

Second, the Petitioner contends that his life recidivist sentence is constitutionally disproportionate to his drug offense. He argues that the test employed by this Court for determining if a sentence is proportionate under West Virginia Constitutional Article III, § 5 is unconstitutionally vague under federal due process principles. The State asks this Court to adopt as the exclusive test for disproportionality the United States Supreme Court's gross disproportionality test under the Eighth Amendment—and under this test the Petitioner's sentence is constitutional.

⁷As noted above, this Order was not included by the Petitioner in the Appendix Record in this appeal. However, it is before the Court by virtue of it being attached to the Notice of Appeal the Petitioner filed in this appeal.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The State is requesting that this Court adopt the United States Supreme Court's Eighth Amendment gross disproportionality test to determine if criminal sentence is constitutionally disproportionate under Article III, § of the West Virginia Constitution.. As such, it requests the case be set for a Rule 20 oral argument. This case is not suitable for a memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

A. The State adduced constitutionally sufficient evidence at trial for the petit jury to have found the Petitioner guilty of Possession of Heroin with Intent to Deliver.

The Petitioner claims there was insufficient evidence to sustain his conviction for Possession of Heroin with Intent to Distribute. Pet'r Br. at 8. Because there was sufficient evidence to sustain the Petitioner's conviction, the Petitioner's claim is meritless and the judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.

A petitioner "faces an 'uphill climb' when he challenges the sufficiency of the evidence[.]" *State v. Scott*, 206 W. Va. 158, 167, 522 S.E.2d 626, 635 (1999) (quoting *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 303, 470 S.E.2d 613, 622 (1996)). The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has "adopted, both generally and in cases with circumstantial evidence, the standard set forth by the United States Supreme Court in *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)." *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 303, 470 S.E.2d 613, 622 (1996). "[T]he standard enunciated in *Jackson* remains a difficult one for petitioners to meet." *Edwards v. Jones*, 720 F.2d 751, 755 (2d Cir. 1983) (quoting *Gruttola v. Hammock*, 639 F.2d 922, 927 (2d Cir. 1981)). "When considering sufficiency-of-evidence claims, this Court's review is highly deferential to the jury's verdict." *State v. Thompson*, 240 W. Va. 406, 414, 813 S.E.2d 59, 67 (2018). "This standard is a strict one; a defendant must meet a heavy burden to gain reversal because a jury verdict will not be overturned lightly." *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 667–68, 461 S.E.2d 163, 173–74 (1995). See also *State v. Miller*, 195

W. Va. 656, 661, 466 S.E.2d 507, 512 (1995) (“the defendant has a heavy burden when challenging the sufficiency of the evidence”).

The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). “It is now well recognized and firmly settled that proof of guilt may be established by circumstantial evidence as well as direct evidence.” *State v. Bailey*, 151 W. Va. 796, 804, 155 S.E.2d 850, 855 (1967). “When a criminal defendant undertakes a sufficiency challenge, all the evidence, direct and circumstantial, must be viewed from the prosecutor’s coign of vantage, and the viewer must accept all reasonable inferences from it that are consistent with the verdict.” Syl. Pt. 2, in part, *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996). “This rule requires the trial court judge to resolve all evidentiary conflicts and credibility questions in the prosecution’s favor; moreover, as among competing inferences of which two or more are plausible, the judge must choose the inference that best fits the prosecution’s theory of guilt.” *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 304, 470 S.E.2d at 623. In this regard, any evidence that contradicts the jury verdict is discounted. *Cf. Graham v. Wallace*, 208 W. Va. 139, 141, 538 S.E.2d 730, 732 (2000) (citing Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995)) (“On appeal of a plaintiff’s verdict, we are required to assume that a (properly instructed) jury credited the evidence that was favorable to the plaintiff’s case and discredited the evidence that was unfavorable to that case.”). *See also Policano v. Herbert*, 453 F.3d 79, 96 (2d Cir. 2006) (Raggi, J., dissenting from denial or rehearing en banc) (“Thus, in considering a constitutional sufficiency challenge, a . . . court disregards (as it must assume the jury did) any

evidence that does not support the jury verdict”); *Yarbrough v. Warden*, No. 3:08-CV-123, 2009 WL 8389035, at *13 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 28, 2009), *report and recommendation adopted*, No. 3:08-CV-123, 2011 WL 3841672 (S.D. Ohio Aug. 30, 2011) (“The test under *Jackson v. Virginia* does not weigh the contradictory evidence”); *State v. Treadway*, 130 P.3d 746, 748 (N.M. 2006) (“This Court evaluates the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case by . . . disregarding all evidence and inferences to the contrary.”); *State v. Niederstadt*, 66 S.W.3d 12, 14 (Mo. 2002) (en banc) (“The Court examines the evidence and inferences in the light most favorable to the verdict, ignoring all contrary evidence and inferences.”); *Ballenger v. State*, 667 So.2d 1242, 1252 (Miss.1995) (“All evidence and inferences derived therefrom, tending to support the verdict, must be accepted as true, while all evidence favoring the defendant must be disregarded”); *State v. Lyons*, 459 S.E.2d 770, 776 (N.C. 1995) (the only time the defendant’s evidence is considered is “in those instances in which it is favorable to the State[.]”). Furthermore a reviewing court must “consider the evidence as a whole, and not as individual pieces,” *United States v. Rahman*, 189 F.3d 88, 122–23 (2d Cir. 1999), “and remember that the jury is entitled to base its decision on reasonable inferences from circumstantial evidence.” *Id.* at 123. *See also United States v. Wilson*, 107 F.3d 774, 778 (10th Cir. 1997) (rather than examining evidence in “bits and pieces,” court evaluates sufficiency of evidence by considering collective inferences to be drawn from evidence as whole).

“Reversal for insufficient evidence is reserved for the rare case ‘where the prosecution’s failure is clear.’” *United States v. Beidler*, 110 F.3d 1064, 1067 (4th Cir. 1997) (quoting *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 17 (1978)). Thus, under *Jackson*, a petitioner “must prove there is *no* evidence from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Zuccaro*, 239 W. Va. 128, 145, 799 S.E.2d 559, 576 (2017) (emphasis in original). Because there was evidence

produced by the State sufficient for a reasonable jury to have found the Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt in this case, the circuit court should be affirmed.

The Petitioner was indicted for Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance, A.R. 4, and was convicted by a jury of that offense. Aug. 7, 2018 Tr. at 319. The circuit court instructed the jury:

The offense charged in the sole count of the indictment of this case is possession with intent to deliver a controlled, one narcotic, controlled substance . .

Possession with intent to deliver a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance is committed when any person unlawfully and feloniously possesses a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance with intent to deliver and said [sic] controlled substance to another person.

The Court instructs the jury that heroin is a schedule I narcotic controlled substance.

Before the defendant, Joshua Dwayne Plante, can be convicted of possession with intent to deliver a schedule I narcotic controlled substance, the State of West Virginia must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant, Joshua Dwayne Plante, in Cabell County, West Virginia, on or about the 20th day of June, 2016, did knowingly possess a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance, to wit, heroin, with the intent to deliver that controlled substance.

Aug. 7, 2018 Tr. at 278-279.

The Court further instructed the jury that:

. . . a person who is the absolute perpetrator of a crime is a principal in the first degree. A person who is not actually or constructively present at the time or the place of the commission of the criminal act by the absolute perpetrator but who counseled, procured, planned, instigated or commanded the criminal act is an accessory before the fact to the criminal act and as such may be criminally liable for the criminal act as if the absolute perpetrator of the crime.

You are further instructed that a person who is actually or constructively present at the scene of the crime at the time of the criminal acts which shared criminal intent somehow contributing to the criminal act of the actual perpetrator is an aider and abettor and a principal in the second degree and as such may be criminally liable for the criminal act as if he were the absolute perpetrator of the crime. Actual physical presence at the scene of the criminal act is not necessary

where the aider and abettor was constructively present at a convenient distance at the time and place of the criminal act acting in concert with the actual perpetrator.

Aug. 7, 2018 Tr. at 280-281.

The circuit court also instructed the jury that:

... the offense of possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance is the knowing possession of the controlled substance with the intent to deliver that substance. The element of possession includes the physical possession of the controlled substance on the person of the accused or the constructive possession of the controlled substance by the accused. When the State of West Virginia relies on the concept of constructive possession, it must prove to you beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused was linked to the controlled substance in question, to the extent that the accused had knowledge of the presence of the controlled substance, where it was found, and that the accused exercised control and dominion over the controlled substance. More than one person can have constructive possession of a controlled substance at a given time.

Aug. 7, 2018 Tr. at 282.

The circuit court additionally instructed the jury that:

... the State of West Virginia has the burden to prove to you beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of the offense charged in this case including the element of intent to deliver a controlled substance. This element of intent to deliver a controlled substance maybe inferred from surrounding circumstances including but not limited to the manner in which the controlled substance was packaged, the presence of weighing scales, measuring devices, firearms, large sums of money, business records or other paraphernalia customarily used in the packaging and delivery of controlled substances, and the amount of controlled substance present, and in this regard the Court instructs the jury that if they find from the evidence in this case that the defendant had possession of an amount of controlled substance that is more than a person normally kept for his personal use, they may infer from that fact and the other facts and circumstances the intent to deliver.

Aug. 7, 2018 Tr. at 282-283.

As stated in syllabus point 4 of *State v. Dudick*, 158 W.Va. 629, 213 S.E.2d 458 (1975), “[t]he offense of possession of a controlled substance also includes constructive possession, but the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had knowledge of the controlled

substance and that it was subject to [the] defendant's dominion and control." The State easily meets this test.

In the present case, the Petitioner stipulated to the jury that he resided at 325 Olive Street at the time of his arrest. Aug. 6, 2018 Tr. at 85.⁸ See *In re Starcher*, 202 W. Va. 55, 61, 501 S.E.2d 772, 778 (1998) ("Numerous jurisdictions have upheld convictions in criminal cases where one or more of the elements of the crime was proven by stipulation.").

The Petitioner also stipulated that 325 Olive Street was lawfully searched and items therein were lawfully seized by the police. Aug. 6, 2018 Tr. at 81. Located and seized from 325 Olive Street were digital scales, multiple cell phones, a baggy containing heroin, other sandwich baggies, multiple firearms (both rifle and pistol) and ammunition. Aug. 6, 2018 Tr. at 94-97. These types of items are normally associated with drug dealing. Aug. 6, 2018 Tr. at 92. See, e.g., *State v. Case*, 870 N.W.2d 274 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015) (table) (text available at 2015 WL 2394105) ("Digital scales are associated with drug dealing."); *United States v. Fudge*, 175 F. App'x 694, 698 (6th Cir. 2006) (observing that "classic trappings of drug dealing" include a digital scale and plastic baggies); *United States v. Triana*, 477 F.3d 1189, 1195 (10th Cir. 2007) ("scales . . . and ziplock baggies—so called 'tools of the drug trade'—were further evidence from which the jury could infer an intent to distribute"); *United States v. Carrasco*, 257 F.3d 1045, 1048 (9th Cir. 2001) (stating that plastic baggies and scales are known tools of drug trade); *United States v. Fisher*, 912 F.2d 728, 731 (4th Cir. 1990) ("Baggies and baggie corners are well-known tools of the narcotics distribution trade."); *United States v. Lazcano-Villalobos*, 175 F.3d 838, 844 (10th Cir. 1999) ("cellular telephones are recognized tools of the drug-dealing trade"); *United States v. Ward*, 171 F.3d 188, 195 (4th

⁸As noted above, the circuit court misspoke at trial and indicated that the Petitioner resided at 322 Olive Street.

Cir.1999) (“Guns are tools of the drug trade.”); *United States v. Regans*, 125 F.3d 685, 686 (8th Cir. 1997) (“We have frequently observed that a firearm is a ‘tool of the trade’ for drug dealers”); *United States v. Russell*, 134 F.3d 171, 183 (3d Cir.1998) (“[I]t has long been recognized that firearms are relevant evidence in the prosecution of drug-related offenses, because guns are tools of the drug trade.”); *United States v. Goodnight*, 67 Fed. Appx. 677, 681 (3d Cir. 2003) (“Moreover, gun possession may serve as circumstantial evidence from which a jury can infer drug activity.”). These items were found throughout 325 Olive Street, and, as Detective Maniskas testified, drug dealers operating out of a drug house do not normally respect bedroom boundaries. Aug. 6, 2018 Tr. at 112.

Further, when arrested, the Petitioner had upon him United States currency and 3 grams of heroin.⁹ Aug. 6, 2018 Tr. at 90, 91. Detective Maniskas’s testimony at trial established that 3 grams

⁹The Petitioner asserts in his brief that this 3 grams of heroin constituted Rule 404(b) evidence. Pet’r Br. at 7, 10, 11. Any argument related to Rule 404(b) is not properly before this Court for at least two reasons, because it was not preserved at trial and is not properly briefed before this Court.

First, because the Petitioner never raised this argument in the circuit court, it is waived. This Court has observed that “[i]t must be emphasized that the contours for appeal are shaped at the circuit court level by setting forth with particularity and at the appropriate time the legal ground upon which the parties intend to rely.” *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W. Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996). “To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect. The rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace.” *Id.*, 470 S.E.2d at 170. The Petitioner, by failing to raise the 404(b) objection below, (and, of course, by failing to show in his brief where the issue was preserved at trial, W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7)) have waived the 404(b) issue on appeal. *See, e.g., Coleman v. Sopher*, 201 W. Va. 588, 614, 499 S.E.2d 592, 618 (1997) (McHugh, J., concurring).

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